
 
 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND JUSTICE  
STANDING COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INQUIRY INTO THE ADEQUACY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS OF 
SOCIAL HOUSING IN WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TRANSCRIPT OF EVIDENCE 
TAKEN AT PERTH 

WEDNESDAY, 6 APRIL 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Members 
 

Mr A.P. O’Gorman (Chairman) 
Mr A.P. Jacob (Deputy Chairman) 

Ms M.M. Quirk 
Mr I.M. Britza 

Mr T.G. Stephens 
__________ 



Community Development and Justice Wednesday, 6 April 2011 Page 1 

 

Hearing commenced at 9.56 am 
 
CHALMERS, DR RON 
Director General, Disability Services Commission, examined: 
 
GRANVILLE, MR DAVID 
Senior Project Officer, Disability Services Commission, examined: 
 
 
The CHAIRMAN: Good morning, Ron and David. Thank you for coming in. While everyone is 
getting settled I will introduce the committee. Tom Stephens, who is getting a coffee at the moment, 
is the member for Pilbara. Sitting next to Tom is Ian Britza, the member for Morley, and Margaret 
Quirk, the member for Girrawheen, has just stepped out for a minute. Albert Jacob is the deputy 
chairman of the committee but, unfortunately, he will not be here this morning. He sends his 
apologies. I am Tony O’Gorman, the chairman of the committee and member for Joondalup. Jovita 
Hogan is one of our research officers. Brian Gordon, who has been in touch with you, will not be 
joining us this morning. I will read you what I need to read to inform you of what is happening this 
morning and then we can net get into asking some questions. 
This committee hearing is a proceeding of Parliament and warrants the same respect that 
proceedings in the house itself demand. Even though you are not required to give evidence on oath, 
any deliberate misleading of the committee may be regarded as a contempt of Parliament. I have a 
couple of questions to ask you. Can you answer them verbally rather than with a nod or shake of the 
head. Have you completed the “Details of Witness” form? 
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you understand the notes at the bottom of the form? 
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: Did you receive and read an information for witnesses briefing sheet regarding 
giving evidence before parliamentary committees? 
The Witnesses: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: Do you have any questions relating to your appearance before the committee 
this morning? 
The Witnesses: No. 
The CHAIRMAN: Before we start asking questions, do you have an opening statement that you 
would like to make? 
Dr Chalmers: Perhaps I will add some context to the issue of the importance of housing around 
people with disabilities and our organisation, without going into too much detail. Until about 15 
years ago the commission was in the business of actually holding a lot of housing stock across 
metropolitan Perth, but around about that time we decided, or a judgement was made, that we 
would stick to our core business, which is providing services. Over a period of time, that housing 
stock transferred to the Department of Housing. From that point onwards we have had a strong 
interest in making sure, while we do not have direct responsibility, that people with disabilities can 
have access to appropriate housing from whatever is the appropriate vehicle for delivering that 
housing to them. 
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The CHAIRMAN: Just on that, have you found that the housing needs are being met better or have 
they deteriorated since that transfer? 
Dr Chalmers: What we have found is that as government has increased the amount of funding 
available for supporting people with disabilities to live in our community, the pace at which housing 
stock has been made available has not really kept pace with the amount of support that we are able 
to provide to people who want to live in the community. We have been working with the 
Department of Housing over the past little while to try to address the issue of trying to make sure 
that the speed at which disability support dollars are provided is matched by the delivery of 
appropriate housing. That housing needs to be across a broad spectrum, from people who can live in 
flats and units all the way to custom-built highly specialised housing for people with profound 
disabilities. 
The CHAIRMAN: Can you tell us the current status of the Department of Housing’s Community 
Disability Housing Program that provides access to housing stock for people with higher support 
needs, and are there new applicants? I think you have partly answered that. 
Dr Chalmers: The CDHP ran for a number of years and was the primary vehicle through which the 
commission could ensure that we got housing stock for the people we support and provide funding 
to. That was based on an MOU between ourselves and the Department of Housing. That MOU ran 
out sometime ago. While we work with the fundamentals of the CDHP, we have actually moved 
beyond that and we are now looking at a broader range of mechanisms for materialising houses that 
people need. We have become a little more sophisticated in looking at the full range of housing 
requirements and how we go about doing that. I think entering into the game, if you like, of being 
community housing providers as well, so it is not just the old business of we knock on the door of 
Housing and tell them that we would like another house, either for ourselves or for one of our non-
government organisations, and then they put it on a list and they deliver on that house; it is a much 
more sophisticated way of doing things now. 
The CHAIRMAN: You mentioned community housing. How do you interface with them? Do you 
still go through DHW or is there a direct contact? Are there some providers that supply you directly 
or that are preferred providers for the disabilities sector? 
Dr Chalmers: All the business that we do either directly with housing or with some of the 
community housing providers themselves is still all done through the Department of Housing, but 
what we have noticed in recent times is that some of the non-government organisations that we 
fund—there are 115 of those, and anything up to 40 or 45 of them are involved in accommodation 
services—have started going directly to the community housing providers, and we have been 
encouraging them to do that because they are all different. Some of our non-government 
organisations have access to land and some of them do not, while some of them want to operate in 
different models. We have been encouraging them to open conversations with those community 
housing providers. Some of that is direct negotiation with them, but some of that also takes them 
back through the Department of Housing as well, so it is not a one-size-fits-all approach. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Do you have a waiting list of people who are after supported accommodation? 
Is that still in existence? 
Dr Chalmers: We do not have a waiting list as such. It is probably worth taking a minute to explain 
the range of people with disabilities and how they step forward seeking access to housing. There are 
many people with disabilities in WA who do not come anywhere near the commission. They might 
be on public housing waitlists, like anyone else, and they want a flat, a unit or a duplex or whatever. 
They will not necessarily be on any list that we have. We also have people with more severe and 
profound disabilities that we provide support funding to who require housing. Again, some of those 
are on public housing waitlists, but some of them are known to us and therefore we alert the 
Department of Housing that we require a particular style of housing for them, or via one of our non-
government organisations the Department of Housing gets alerted to that as well. Every year we 



Community Development and Justice Wednesday, 6 April 2011 Page 3 

 

fund perhaps another 200 people with severe and profound disabilities with significant amounts of 
support funding. Our current figures tell us that about 74 per cent of those people require public 
housing. Every year that is the number of people that we are looking at trying to house. At the 
moment, we have about 50 people sitting in that category who are at some stage in the process; they 
are either on the list or there is a housing project that has been ticked off and is being built or 
purchased and they are waiting to get into that. They are at different points in the continuum of 
housing. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: So do they not have a sense of priority? Are people with disabilities on the list 
like everyone else? 
Dr Chalmers: No, they do have a sense of priority. This is not people who are just sitting on the 
general public waitlist; these people are doing a different set of business with Housing and with the 
community housing providers—some of it using our money, some of it using Department of 
Housing money and some of it using old commonwealth government stimulus dollars and so on. A 
variety of funding sources allow us to chip away at these people. To answer your question, no, they 
are not part of the general pool. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: There are obviously people with disabilities, but what is the lowest to highest 
rate of disability? What are we talking about? Are we talking about people with disabilities besides 
those who have physical disabilities—disabled limbs or anything like that? 
Dr Chalmers: At its broadest extent we know that there are 400 000 people in WA with some form 
of disability. One person in five in the population has some form of disability. That is a very big 
number. They are the people from the most profoundly disabled person in the state to people who 
have chronic back pain or sensory impairments and so on. It is a broad spectrum. The commission 
has a legislative mandate to support people who have moderate, severe and profound disabilities. 
That is people with physical, sensory, cognitive, neurological and some peripheral disabilities as 
well. It is quite a broad spectrum. That comes down to about 160 000 people. It funnels down pretty 
quickly. In terms of the people who gain access to specialist services, you are looking at about 
22 000 people across the state. It comes down like a funnel. It is that group of 22 000 people—from 
children to the elderly—that we are focusing in on. Many of those will require public housing. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Can I just clarify this? There is a group that needs supported accommodation, 
and you say it is about 200 a year. Is that right? 
Dr Chalmers: There are 200 a year who come out of our funding rounds who get dollars from us 
for support, and 74 per cent of them — 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Also have housing needs? 
Dr Chalmers: Correct. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: How many are waiting in line for that support? 
Dr Chalmers: For the housing support? 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: No, just your support. 
Dr Chalmers: We have three funding rounds a year. Those rounds tend to bring forward 500 or 600 
people who are seeking dollars from us, and we can fund only about a quarter of those in any one 
year. There is a lot of unmet demand in that process itself. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: I take it that because of the ageing population, ageing carers who can no longer 
look after their children, for example, are coming into that list, if you like. Has any modelling been 
done on the extent of the problem that is coming up? 
Dr Chalmers: Absolutely. We have a lot of detailed modelling. The demand is going up; there is 
no doubt about that. That is why every year for the past 15 years there has been growth funding put 
in by all governments to chip away constantly at that unmet demand. We have been working on a 
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fairly solid business case for the next few years to keep pace with that demand. Eighty per cent of 
our funding comes from the state and 20 per cent comes from the commonwealth, so we need to 
keep chipping away at the commonwealth. That is also why there is such national interest at the 
moment about a national disability insurance scheme to try to overcome all of those problems by 
having a guaranteed funding scheme to every one of those people who require support. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: One question before I hand it over: a number of young people in nursing homes 
have an acquired brain injury through a car accident, for example. What is the current number in 
Western Australia, do you know? 
Dr Chalmers: The number of younger people in nursing homes? 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Yes. 
Dr Chalmers: Again, there is not a simple number that I can give you. This has been a particular 
focus of the state and commonwealth governments for a number of years through the Young People 
in Residential Aged Care program, where the states and the commonwealth have been funding 50–
50 a particular initiative to try to get three things: to get people to stop going into those nursing 
homes in the first place; to find an exit strategy to get them out; and, for those who do not want to 
come out—there are quite a few who do not want to come out—to improve the quality of life of the 
people in those nursing homes. That program comes to an end at the end of this financial year. We 
are waiting for the commonwealth to buy back into that agenda, and the states are reluctant to do it 
on their own. To answer your question, we identified at the start of this, I think, that it was about 80 
people across the state—some of them are in regional nursing homes as well—who are under 55 
years of age with a disability that requires 24/7 care. We have been chipping away at that 55. We 
have met all our targets to try to move them out. But some of the people we have interviewed—we 
have interviewed their families and the people they work with—do not want them to come out, for 
their own reasons. The number has been dropping. About 20 or 25 are still in those situations. The 
offer has been made and some of them fought so hard to get a place like that that they are reluctant 
to move or they are happy staying where they are. 
[10:15 am] 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: It is generally regarded as not an appropriate place for them, but there is 
nowhere else for them to go. 
Dr Chalmers: I should say that this program had dollars for housing, so we have built houses in 
Derby, Kalgoorlie and places in regional areas and people have moved into them and are living 
good lives. But even when that is offered to some of the people in the nursing homes, who are 
young people in their 30s and 40s, they still say, “No thanks. We’ll just stay where we are.” 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Are there models of housing for people with disabilities elsewhere that you 
think are good, optimal or worth following or looking at? Is there anywhere that you think is doing 
it well? 
Dr Chalmers: I am giving long answers. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: That is all right. 
Dr Chalmers: It is the range of housing that needs to be borne in mind. We are increasingly seeing 
more and more people wanting to live in the community in normal housing. That has been a huge 
shift in the past five or six years. In years before that, a lot of people who required public housing 
wanted group home, institution or hostel–type accommodation from our system and from Housing, 
so the Department of Housing used to build those sorts of places. The demand for those is dropping, 
and the demand is ramping up fairly quickly for people who just want to live in an ordinary house 
in an ordinary street. It is not so much specialised housing around people with disabilities; it is more 
ordinary housing but in good locations. People with disabilities tend to be on pension incomes, so 
they are not well off. They tend to not drive, so they need to be close to transport. They want to be 
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within a community setting, because we push really hard on inclusion. The demand is really about 
normalised housing. It is not so much whether there is a nice model somewhere else that we can 
replicate, because all we really want is access to housing in the right spots. Then we wrap the 
supports around the people so they can live in those normal houses. I think the parts of Victoria that 
work pretty hard on the community housing side of things demonstrate that they can do some really 
good deals with community housing, which is willing to say that it will set aside a number of flats 
or units or whatever within a new development for people with disabilities to use or will make sure 
that they are universally accessible and so on. The amount of housing that we require that is highly 
specialised with very wide doors, ramps, tracking systems for hoists and all the rest of it is really 
quite small these days. It is more mainstream stuff that we are after. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: Because of successive governments, you are dealing with the same 
bureaucracies. I hear that your best figures are that you are dealing with a quarter of the issues in 
front of you. Are you getting a sympathetic ear from the ministers or the bureaucracies? 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: These blokes are the bureaucracy. You mean the Treasury. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: In fact, these guys are the good guys. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: I am taking that on board and I understand that. It seems to me that we are 
getting only a quarter of the outcome. We are using the word “normal”, so I am trying to be careful 
with how I use that word. We understand the plight of those without disabilities, but people with 
disabilities is a special issue. We have been getting only a quarter of the outcome, because that is 
the only thing you can do because of the finance coming to you. What is the typical answer you are 
getting? 
The CHAIRMAN: Before you answer that, can I clarify that you said that you deal with 200? Is 
that 200 additional every year to the number you are already supporting? 
Dr Chalmers: Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN: How many people are you supporting generally? 
Dr Chalmers: There are 22 000 people who access some form of specialised disability support in 
WA. We are actually supporting a shrinking amount as we have been purposefully building our 
non-government sector over the past 15 years. More and more people get their services from Activ 
Foundation, Rocky Bay, the Centre for Cerebral Palsy and so on. We have been building and 
growing those structures, and our own services stay fairly static. Of those 22 000 people, I suspect 
that we are looking at fewer than 5 000 people in supported accommodation. 
The CHAIRMAN: That is what you are adding the 200 to every year. 
Dr Chalmers: Yes; that is right. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: Thank you, Chairman. I appreciate that. I was coming to that. The last serious 
figure I heard was around 600 applicants. Where was that? 
Dr Chalmers: These are people who apply for funding through the commission every year because 
they are in critical or urgent need of support. Some of those want accommodation, some of those 
want support in the family home so that their families can cope better with looking after them, and 
some of them want support during the day so that they can access the community or have their 
personal care needs met and so on during the day. Of that 600, a smaller number require supported 
accommodation, if you like. It is only a component of that 600. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: I think that is the area that I was concerned with. Of that 600, you are able to 
take care of only around 200. 
Dr Chalmers: Correct. I think your question is: is there unmet demand for support? Clearly there 
is, and there has been for as long as I have been in the business, and I have been in the business for 
20 years. 
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Mr I.M. BRITZA: For the serious end. 
Dr Chalmers: Yes. There is unmet demand. That is why, in every year that I have been in this 
business, significant growth funding has been injected into Disability Services. It is keeping pace 
and it is chipping away gradually at that unmet demand, but there is still a significant gap between 
the dollars we get from the commonwealth and state governments and the overall demand for 
services for people. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: I do not want you to answer the question now, but certainly at the end of the 
hearing I want to ask what you would like. 
The CHAIRMAN: It is a magic wand–type question. Maybe we are going back over old ground, 
but can you tell us the estimated number of people with disabilities who are eligible for funding 
from DSC but who are currently not funded? Is that that 22 000? 
Dr Chalmers: The number of people who are eligible for support from the commission would be 
the biggest number of about 160 000 people. The other thing is that a lot of people who apply for 
the packages of funding—I think it is 92 per cent—already get support in different ways. We 
support them through other programs or home and community care packages; there is a variety of 
different ways. Some access respite support for their families. In this major funding flow, which is 
our combined application process, those are the sorts of numbers we are talking about. We hit about 
200 a year, and so there is that gap in demand. 
The CHAIRMAN: If a person who is eligible for support from your agency is homeless, is that 
person able to access support from you? 
Dr Chalmers: Yes, absolutely. 
The CHAIRMAN: How do you provide support to a homeless person? 
Dr Chalmers: Those people come to our notice in a variety of ways. We have a statewide local 
area coordination network. 
The CHAIRMAN: It is a very good one from my experience. 
Dr Chalmers: I must brag and say that it won a Premier’s award for excellence in the public sector 
last October, so we are pretty chuffed about that. It has taken us 22 years to build that program. It is 
now being replicated in other parts of the world, including Scotland and North America. We are 
pretty proud of that. 
The CHAIRMAN: During my 10 years in this role, I have found it to be absolutely excellent in my 
area. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: I agree. 
Dr Chalmers: Our LACs keep their ear to the ground a lot. They are based in communities, so they 
will pick up people with disabilities who are homeless. They are people who might become 
homeless for whatever reason. There are also other people who are chronic in terms of being 
homeless. Again, our specialist services, our non-government organisations or our local area 
coordinators assist in trying to advocate to get them fast-tracked into public housing spaces. They 
do an awful lot of that. We also have kicked off across government agencies an initiative called 
people with exceptionally complex needs. It is a small project that has been up and running for two 
years now. It deals with people who are homeless or who, because of mental health problems, drug 
use or whatever, cannot readily keep up their tenancy and so on. We work with a cohort of people 
on that front as well. My answer is that we have multiple strategies. We work with them if they are 
in sheltered-type accommodation. It does not matter where they are. 
The CHAIRMAN: We still have people with disabilities in regional and remote communities. How 
hard is it for you to deliver into those areas? Do you in fact meet the need out there? Is it NGOs 
primarily? How does it get out to the really remote and difficult to get to areas? 
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Dr Chalmers: Can I assume that your question is not just about housing but about Disability 
Services? 
The CHAIRMAN: Yes. 
Dr Chalmers: Local area coordination actually began in regional WA and we had a network there 
before it moved into Perth, which is interesting. We have found that gaining access to housing in 
regional areas is relatively easier than it is in parts of metropolitan Perth. I was down in the south 
west a couple of weeks ago and we were meeting up with housing people there. We have very close 
connections with the housing managers in regional areas through the Department of Housing. 
Again, our local area coordinators and our regional managers work very closely. You can almost 
bring areas of unmet need to the attention of their system more readily. Remote areas are a 
challenge. Again, working with the Department of Housing through the YPIRAC program for 
young people in nursing homes and so on, we manage to materialise some pretty good outcomes for 
people in those sorts of areas, notwithstanding that a house we had built for people in Warmun was 
swept down the river recently, one year after the ceremony to open it. We kicked off a new house in 
Derby a couple of weeks ago. We have houses in Broome. We do all right on that front. Again, 
these are people with severe and profound disabilities. People with lesser disabilities are still 
waiting on public housing wait lists with others who just want flats and units around the place. It 
works out reasonably well. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: Was the funding for the house in Warmun simply from the Department of 
Housing, or was it Disability Services Commission funding? 
Dr Chalmers: That house was delivered through the CDH program. It was purpose built around the 
needs of four severely disabled young men. The supports are being provided by a national non-
government organisation called Life Without Barriers. It was working incredibly well, with trained 
carers providing good-quality support and linking with the aged-care facility that happened to be 
just across the road from where the house was built. There was good community engagement and 
good community buy in, and then it started to rain. So we have to start all over again. 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Where are those four people now? 
Dr Chalmers: Luckily, a year ago we kicked off a new respite facility in Broome, which is a 
fantastic place. It just so happened that these people can now live there for a period until we fast-
track some more appropriate accommodation. If we had not had that respite facility up and running 
in Broome, we would have been scratching our heads. In fact, there is a good chance that those 
people would have ended up in Perth for a period, which is not a good outcome. At least they are 
still in the Kimberley, and we will transition them back as quickly as we can. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: For what it is worth, the carers provided virtually brave acts of rescue for 
the young men in those houses. 
Dr Chalmers: Indeed. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: Fortunately, the flood occurred during daylight hours, otherwise there 
almost certainly would have been loss of life. There would have been loss of life other than for the 
heroic acts of the young carer. 
Dr Chalmers: Yes. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: In reference to the relationship between your commission and an 
organisation such as Ruah, is it provided with support from you for accommodation for people with 
disabilities? 
Dr Chalmers: We do not fund Ruah directly. Ruah receives the bulk of its funding through mental 
health dollars through the mental health system. The only people we would have accommodated in 
Ruah services would be people who have a dual disability—an intellectual disability and a mental 
health illness. We come to the party in terms of support for those people. We are not in a 
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contractual relationship with Ruah. That is not to say that we will not be in the near future, because 
Eddie Bartnik, the new Mental Health Commissioner, used to be one of our executive directors. We 
have been doing a lot of joint planning on how we can link up the two organisations to operate far 
more like this rather than like this, as we used to. I think we will be doing a lot more joint work with 
Ruah and some other non-government organisations such as Palmerston and others that provide 
services to people with a mental health illness. Ruah would be in the same boat as any of our non-
government organisations. The houses that it would want to secure would be coming through the 
Department of Housing or through one of the community housing providers. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: So support for housing does not come from you at all really; it is just that 
the support package comes from you? 
Dr Chalmers: Correct. 
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: It is really in-house support strategies. 
[10.30 am] 
Dr Chalmers: That is right. We provide the support and services. The Department of Housing, 
which we partner with quite strongly, has to come up with the bricks and mortar.  
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: The committee had the opportunity to see some work done in Melbourne by 
community housing organisations that were providing services to people with disabilities. They 
may have had more to do with mental health issues rather than other physical disabilities. These 
models saw inner city complexes that were integrated with a concierge-type facility using people 
who were trained paramedical types delivering support services to people in an integrated complex. 
These people who had bought into the complex were without disabilities; that is, a community of 
people with disabilities living adjacent to and cheek by jowl, but not quite, with other people. Is 
there anything like that going on in Western Australia?  
Dr Chalmers: Yes, there is. I am not familiar with the detail but through mental health, they have 
just kicked off this place in Northbridge.  
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: Is that the gateway thing or the portal, is it?  
Dr Chalmers: I am not sure. I am on shaky territory because it is not my area but it sounds very 
much like what you have just described.  
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: I think it is the one located at the entrance to the TAFE on Oxford Street.  
Dr Chalmers: It could well be. It is a place that combines accommodation with specialist services 
that people need, and even employment access, training access and so on. It is not a 
one-dimensional service. The commission is exploring and taking steps down a path of coming up 
with some really innovative ways of supporting people to live in our community from joint equity 
type initiatives for people who want to have a bit of home ownership, people with disabilities. One 
of our visions is that people become less dependent on pension incomes and have their own 
economic foundations. We are keen to explore with Housing, with community housing providers 
and with private builders how we can come up with models that would allow people to have some 
equity—they may not own their own home—sharing those flats, units and houses that they have. 
We are also really trying to stretch the imagination of our non–government organisations so that 
they can move beyond the traditional group home or mini hostel. We are trying to encourage them 
to look at what would be wrong with having flats and units dotted into new developments or parts 
of new developments in which people without disabilities are living, still with quality services being 
provided—new models of supporting people living a very inclusive life in WA.  
Mr T.G. STEPHENS: Is there any Disability Services Commission advice on the issues of people 
with disabilities becoming landlords to carers or providing space for carers in which the carer 
becomes a tenant of the disabled?  
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Dr Chalmers: We have some of that happening. One of our visions is that people who access the 
services of government need to be in more control of those services and call the shots in terms of 
what those services look like. I will pick one. One of our more innovative non–government 
organisations is called My Place. It has been up and running for many years now. It provides 
support for people with significant disabilities. They work from the position that those people with 
disabilities, as much as they are able, should be designing, customising and controlling the supports 
they get. Sometimes with the dollars from government they actually invite the carers into their own 
homes, and sometimes they are living in those homes, providing support to them. We want to give 
as much control to people as we can. A lot of that is going on at the moment. We want to see more 
of that.  
Mr I.M. BRITZA: Has NRAS affected the level of housing investment for homes for the disabled 
especially?  
Dr Chalmers: It has but not enough.  
Mr I.M. BRITZA: What improvement would you suggest?  
Dr Chalmers: I think we just need to use it more. Some of these models that I was talking about 
need to be capitalising on that revenue stream, I suppose. I do not think we are making enough use 
of that in the models that we have for people with severe and profound disabilities.  
Mr I.M. BRITZA: That leads to a good question. Is there discrimination in the community, 
particularly towards the intellectual which affects the housing options?  
Dr Chalmers: That is a pretty broad question. We have seen a few trends that are pleasing. A 
decade ago we still had a major issue in Perth primarily around where people with intellectual 
disability, autism and challenging behaviours might be living. Neighbours used to complain. Some 
of the people we support make noise, not because they are bad tenants but that is just the way they 
are. We would have to deal with complaints and so on. I have to say that over time that has changed 
and the community has become more tolerant and more educated about this sort of stuff and we do 
not deal with a lot of that stuff any more. That is pretty pleasing.  
Mr I.M. BRITZA: That was an eye-opener for me. I have two organisations in my electorate that 
are run by the Catholic Church that deal with real strong support of the intellectually disabled. 
These are people who adopt them. Some have been with them for 20 years. It is extraordinary. I had 
not seen anything like that before. Obviously, it is a non-government issue. It appeared to me that 
when I was a boy, it was a really big issue at school. To know that it is changing now and you are 
seeing that trend is very encouraging.  
Dr Chalmers: I think the school system has had a bit to do with this. Children and teenagers have 
become more tolerant. It has to move in that direction. A strong partnership between ourselves and 
the Department of Housing is important in terms of things such as maintenance with public housing 
where we have people with challenging behaviour. The chief executive officer of the Autism 
Association, Joan McKenna Kerr, often talks about this. People with autism and challenging 
behaviours sometimes, because of the nature of their condition, do damage to houses. They will put 
their head through windows or punch walls and what have you. It is simply the nature of their 
condition. It is not malicious damage. Having it treated in a way so they are not seen as naughty 
people is a pretty important thing. The Department of Housing understands this. We deal with the 
community housing providers. We have to educate private developers and community housing 
providers to think the same way.  
Mr I.M. BRITZA: It was interesting that we saw some kit homes up north particularly being built 
to withstand such damage. In that kind of situation they could almost do damage to themselves.  
Dr Chalmers: I have to give some credit to the Department of Housing and its architects because 
over time they have become very tuned in and skilled to being able to design houses for us that have 
features built into them that are accommodating of those sorts of behaviours.  



Community Development and Justice Wednesday, 6 April 2011 Page 10 

 

Mr I.M. BRITZA: Can you give us a couple of examples?  
Dr Chalmers: Some of it comes down to having spaces available for people. Even in a group home 
environment in which you might have five or six residents in a particular house, if they are on top of 
each other, that can be problematic. They need to have space. Other things involve the use of 
technology and sensors for people who get up and wander at different times, not in a Big Brother 
perspective, but use of technology. We need to be sensible about placement of windows, even 
kitchen designs and so on for people who can scald themselves et cetera. They are quite clever in 
how they do that stuff.  
The CHAIRMAN: Do they do anything in terms of the fabric of the house? You said that a person 
with autism may bang their head or smash a window. Surely there can be an upgrade to the glazing. 
If they smash a window, that in itself will cause damage. If it is a gyprock wall, that is not too bad; 
it damages the wall but not the person. If you go for the types of construction that we looked at up 
north, which is a metal and foam sandwich type construction or a brick wall, that will cause damage 
to the person. Do they have other things that they do to protect them?  
Dr Chalmers: There are a range of different things. In some houses they start right from scratch 
with perspex windows instead of glass windows. They often look at carpet cladding up to dado 
board level and so on. It is always a compromise. You do not want it to look weird. You do not 
want it to look institutional. They come up with smart ideas on how they can address those issues.  
Ms M.M. QUIRK: As to the relationship with the Department of Housing, you talked about an 
MOU lapsing. Why is there not an incentive to re-visit that?  
Dr Chalmers: We are. We will have an MOU in place for the start of the financial year, hopefully 
with some additional resources around housing capital growth funding out of the state budget, yet to 
be determined. We are into a new phase of partnership with the Department of Housing, which we 
are really looking forward to.  
The CHAIRMAN: What about other departments? How do you work with other departments? 
Clearly, you have people coming for all sorts of support.  
Dr Chalmers: Mental health is critical, as is the health department in terms of people who access 
HACC packages and so on. The commission works in two ways very strongly. One is, as I have 
mentioned, with those 115 non-government organisations that we have been building over the 
years. That is a key service delivery for us. But also we partner more than any other department 
because we rely on other departments to look after the 400 000 people. We are in constant 
engagement with Education around children with disabilities, Health around people with medical 
needs related to their disability, and Transport. Our transport minister was also the disability 
services minister. We could do a lot of synergy on that front. We constantly engage with other 
departments because it is the mainstream that we are on about rather than saying, “Let’s pull these 
people out and treat them differently.”  
Ms M.M. QUIRK: One of the trends that is happening more generally in the public housing sphere 
because of the waiting list is that there is a lot of pressure for people to access private rental 
accommodation with some financial assistance from the Department of Housing. It seems to me 
that people with disabilities will have particular problems accessing private housing basically 
because of discrimination by landlords or real estate agents. Is that part of the LAC’s role or are you 
developing some sort of advocacy package for people to access private accommodation in those 
circumstances?  
Dr Chalmers: Two years ago we kicked off the community living initiative. We think this is 
international best practice stuff. Instead of people going through the old CDHP and the NCAT 
program and so on, these are small funding packages, $20 000 a year worth of support for people 
who do not need the heavy duty end of the support system. This is targeted at people who can build 
a network of support and live in an ordinary place. They might need housing off the normal wait list 
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or from private rental. The outcomes to date have been really encouraging. I think over 200 people 
have jumped into this pathway. Sometimes people with disabilities are seen as very good tenants. In 
fact, the Department of Housing sees not people with challenging behaviours as I was talking about 
before but the majority of people with disabilities are very good tenants. They do not create a fuss. 
They go out for employment. They work very predictable lives. There are no big parties. Things are 
pretty good for a lot of those people. For many private rental providers they seem to be pretty good 
tenants. I do not see a lot of discrimination. We do not spend a lot of time focusing on that. 
[10.45 am] 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: That is excellent. 
Mr I.M. BRITZA: That is encouraging.  
Dr Chalmers: The key is that they need to have appropriate levels of support around them for this 
to work. That can be problematic if they are left on their own and unsupported. That support is 
important.  
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Getting back to the tenants with challenging behaviours, a policy was released 
yesterday about antisocial behaviour, which I think broadens the net substantially. Did the 
department have any discussions with you about the implementation of that new policy and making 
sure that people with challenging behaviours do not inadvertently breach these guidelines?  
Dr Chalmers: The answer is no, but we are certainly having conversations—starting yesterday—
about that just to make sure that people with disabilities are not — 
Ms M.M. QUIRK: Unwittingly caught in them?  
Dr Chalmers: Right. We would be pretty confident that we will get ahead of that.  
The CHAIRMAN: I am conscious of the time. Ian foreshadowed this question earlier: if you had a 
magic wand, what would you like to do? We are not giving you an open-ended time to answer, as 
we have a very concise period.  
Dr Chalmers: Maybe I will answer by saying that last year the commonwealth government gave a 
brief to the Productivity Commission to look at disability services across the nation. On 28 February 
just gone they released their draft report on what they found. The big bold statement at the top of 
their report says that the disability service system across the nation is fundamentally flawed and 
underfunded. They then go on to present to the Australian community a plan for how that can be 
addressed through a national disability insurance scheme and a national injury insurance scheme for 
people who sustain catastrophic injuries that would guarantee a level of funding and universal 
access to all people with disabilities across the nation. It just so happens, it will cost an additional 
$6.3 billion to bring that into effect. I think there is general acknowledgement across the nation that 
disability services are underfunded. We are no different here in the west. Having said that, there has 
been significant growth—from successive governments I have to say—over the past two decades. 
Every year there has been growth funding put in. A magic wand? It would be more growth funding. 
They are talking about national levies, a Medicare-style levy and a percentage and so on. It boils 
down to resources at the end; there are just not enough of them in the disability area. If you have 
this level of resources and there is a higher demand, then you are into rationing and prioritising.  
Ms M.M. QUIRK: I have one question. We called you in because we are conscious that when our 
report comes out people will say that we had not addressed disability issues. On the other hand, 
from what you have said this morning, Dr Chalmers, there is very much the trend for normalisation. 
Are there any, if you like, traps for young players in terms of how we address this in the report? 
Should there be specific reference or should it be seen as part of continuing housing needs without 
singling it out?   
Dr Chalmers: I think that for people with disabilities who are currently on the mainstream public 
housing wait list, we would always want to advocate for them being treated as high priority on that 
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wait list. If you are looking at elements of our community that would have first grabs on that 
resource, I think that people with disabilities could clearly demonstrate that they need to be near the 
top. For people who need more customised housing to meet their particular needs, we need a very 
strong partnership between ourselves and the Department of Housing, and with those other housing 
providers and commercial operators. We just need space to be able to work those models hard and 
deliver for people on that front. There will always be that group of people who have particular 
needs—a small percentage of our population—whom we need to make sure are catered for, and we 
will need resources dedicated to those people.  
The CHAIRMAN: If members have no other questions, I will just read our closing statement so 
you know what happens from here on in. Thank you again for coming in to us this morning and 
giving evidence before the committee.  
A transcript of the hearing will be forwarded to you for correction of minor errors. Will you please 
make these corrections and return the transcript within 10 working days of the date of the covering 
letter? If the transcript is not returned within this period, we will deem it to be correct. New material 
cannot be introduced by these corrections and the sense of your evidence cannot be altered. Should 
you wish to provide additional information or elaborate on particular points, please include a 
supplementary submission for the committee’s consideration when you return your corrected 
transcript of evidence. Thank you very much for coming in this morning.  

Hearing concluded 10.51 am 


